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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (if known) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The Richmond City Hall occupies an entire downtown block, bounded on thie
west by 10th Street, on the east by 1llth Street, on the south by Capitol
Street, and on the north by East Broad Street. Its ground level measures
170 feet by 140 feet and the clock tower rises 195 above the pavement. The
city hall joins other important structures such as Ammi B. Young's Customs
House and Thomas S. Stewart's St. Paul's Church in framlng the broad green
square occupied primarily by Jefferson's Capitol.

Supporting the City Hall's floors and mansard roof are some two million
cubic feet of exterior stone walls and five million bricks in the interior
walls, supplemented by cast iron columns and wrought iron beams and trusses.
Floors are of flat~arch clay tile construction supported on wrought iron
rafters, beams and trusses.

Although each facade maintains a basic formal symmetry with its central
Gothic-style porch entrance and paired bays to either side, the end pavilions
are varied in roof treatment utilizing pyramidal and conical capping. The
dominant feature in the building's design is the clock tower at the northeast
corner with its small spires rising from buttresses below to frame the clock
faces and the pyramidal roof. Sub-themes in the motif include the window
clusters of two and three openings spaced by short unfluted Gothic columns
with voluted capitals enriched with foliage. Segmental-pointed arches as
well as lancet and straight arches span door and window openings. The rich
textures of the stone surfaces vary from the rough hewn blocks with their
smooth finished edges to the moulded belt courses and corbeled cornices.
Gabled porches frame deeply recessed entrances on each facade and carved oak
doors lead into the central four-story gallery and skylight that dominates
the interior. Against a background of pilasters and paneled wall surfaces
on the outer walls of the gallery, are placed inner arcades of lancet and
four-centered arches supported by Gothic columns resting on circular and
rectangular pedestals. At each level, the cornice, pierced iron balustrad-
ing and plaster spandrels have their individual treatment, and this pattern,
when combined with the feeling of height created by the shortening of colummn
height from bottom level to top, forms a rich spectacle matched by few
interiors in the country. Just east of the gallery and forming a visual
background to it on entering the building from the wast is a broad cast iron
stair with iron railing pierged in a quatrefoil pattern. The stairway rises
in a single flight to the second level and is repeated on every floor. A
considerable amount of golden oak paneling,used in the gallery as well as in
most of court rooms and offices, has been painted over but enough remains in
certain areas to capture the feel of its original appearance. The moulding
and trim in these rooms that surround the open gallery is less ornate than
elsewhere and the interest here is more on the existence of original filing
cabinets, elaborately detailed radiators, electrified gas fixtures and
especially on the survival of original marble sinks and brass fixtures in
some of the baths.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Richmond's City Hall stands on the site of three notable build-
ings which were either moved or demolished in the early 1870's to make way
for the new structure: Richmond's first City Hall, built in 1818 from
plans by Robert Mills and Maximilian Godefroy and demolished because it
was thought to be structurally unsound; First Presbyterian Church, built
in 1853 by John MacArthur, Jr. of Philadelphia and moved to another site
in 1873; the Edmund Randolph House, built circa 1800 and one of Richmond's
octagonal-ended Houses. But it was not until 1883 that the competition
for the new City Hall was held and not until 1886 that Elijah E. Myers plans
were finally accepted. Groundbreaking ceremonies were held in that year
and by 1894, when the new building opened, the costs had risen from an
original estimate of $300,000 to $1,318,349.19. With hints of graft and
several investigations completed, the Richmond Dispatch noted on
2 February, 1894:

"Indeed, by many travelled people, Richmond's new City Hall

is pronounced one of the handsomest and most conveniently-arranged
public buildings of its character in the country. It can never

cease to be a matter of regret that in order for its erection, it

was deemed necessary to sweep out of existence the old City Hall!
Whatever may be said about the cost of City Hall and the time it

has taken to erect it, there is no question that it was built to stay."

The selection of Myers for the City Hall was a natural choice
for Richmond as he was one of the most successful architects of his day in
competition for public buildings. He was architect of the State Capitols
of Michigan, of Colorado, of Texas, of Idaho, of the old Capitol o# the
Territory of Utah, and winner of the international competition for the
Parliament Buildings in Riode Janeiro. Desiring a symbol of "Richmond's
progress,; growth and ambition,'" the City Council turned to this nationallyj~
recognized architect.

The City Hall owes its designation as a prime example of the
High Victorian Gothic style to the characteristic solidity expressed in the
rough hewn stone of its facades and to its lively silhouette achieved by
the variety of ornamental gables, dormers, finials and chimneys. In fact,
its kinship to this style relies on these two major characteristics since
it ignores the popular polychrome treatment often seen on structures of
this period and emphasizes instead the intricacy possible in manipulating
materials into textures and Gothic shapes. . The great central light well

with tiers of enriched columns, spandrels, railings and brass fixtures
must rank as one of the most impressive municipal interiors in the nation.
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8. Statement of Significance: (1) Richmond City Hall

The Richmond City Hall was built between 1886 and 1894 from designs
by Elijah E. Myers (1832-1909). The building occupies an entire city
block at the rear of the Virginia Capitol grounds. Of monumental scale,
the City Hall measures 170 feet by 140 feet, its rugged silhouette
culminating in a corner tower which rises to a height of 195 feet. The
solidity of its construction; in which stone, brick and iron are the
principal materials; is noteworthy and is equalled in quality by the
excellence of its workmanship and finish. Stylistically, the Richmond
City Hall represents a later phase of the 19th-century Gothic Revival,
its exterior effect achieved by contrasting textures rather than by
polychromatic materials. The most notable interior feature is an impres-
sive skylighted central court surrounded by arcaded galleries. Mainte-
nance has been excellent, and almost all the original fixtures remain
intact. Among American municipal buildings of its size and style, the
Richmond City Hall has no superior in similarly unaltered condition.
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8.

a region !

and we can afford to build a beautiful, glorious palace to say so.

Carrol Meeks notes the importance of such a structure to a community and

"But a City Hall, like a national Capitol, has a symbolic function.
is architecture made art by the expression of mood, feeling, desire and
ambition, as was correctly stated of this building in 1894. That vast
central hall, those giant's staircases, those sumptuous rows of columns
and arches still perform their original function. These features say
"this is no ordinary building, this is what we, the people of Richmond,
think of ourselves. We are proud people, we glory in our democracy,
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